



# UNITED STATES LEGAL

# GUIDE

FOOD DONATION LAW AND POLICY

#### **Authors**

This report was written by the following staff and students at the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic: Emily M. Broad Leib, Ariel Ardura, Brian Fink, Mordechai Hartman, Matthew Giguere, and Rotem Spiegler.

#### **Acknowledgements**

We are grateful to The Global FoodBanking Network whose input, ideas, and expertise informed much of our research. This report was also made possible with the advice and support of our numerous partners in the United States, including Feeding America, as well as many other NGOs, businesses, and government agencies with whom we have collaborated over the years on our U.S.-based food waste policy portfolio.

#### **About The Global Food Donation Policy Atlas**

The Global Food Donation Policy Atlas is a first-of-its-kind initiative to promote better laws around food donation in order to help address both food loss and food insecurity. This project maps the laws affecting food donation in countries across the globe, in order to: help practitioners understand national laws relating to food donation; compare laws across countries and regions; analyze legal questions and barriers to donation; and share best practices and recommendations for overcoming these barriers. The project is a partnership between Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic and The Global FoodBanking Network. To learn about and compare the food donation laws and policies for the countries FLPC has researched to date, visit <a href="https://www.atlas.foodbanking.org">www.atlas.foodbanking.org</a>.

#### **About the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic**

The Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic (FLPC) serves partner organizations and communities by providing guidance on cutting-edge food system legal and policy issues, while engaging law students in the practice of food law and policy. Our focus is on increasing access to healthy foods, supporting sustainable food production and food systems, and reducing waste of healthy, wholesome food. For more information, visit <a href="https://www.chlpi.org/FLPC">www.chlpi.org/FLPC</a>.



#### **About The Global FoodBanking Network**

The Global FoodBanking Network is an international non-profit organization that nourishes the world's hungry through uniting and advancing food banks in more than 40 countries. GFN focuses on combating hunger and preventing food waste by providing expertise, directing resources, sharing knowledge and developing connections that increase efficiency, ensure food safety, and help food banks reach more people facing hunger. For more information visit <a href="https://www.foodbanking.org">www.foodbanking.org</a>.



#### Made Possible with Support from the Walmart Foundation

The research included in this report was made possible through funding by the Walmart Foundation. The findings, conclusions, and recommendations presented in this report are those of Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic alone, and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the Walmart Foundation.



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Introduction	1
Purpose of this Guide	1
State of Food Insecurity, Food Loss, Waste, and Recovery in the United States	2
Overview of the United States' Relevant Legal Framework	3
United States' Food Safety Laws	3
Bill Emerson Good Samaritan Food Donation Act	4
Federal Agency Activities and Programs on Food Waste Reduction	5
Other Relevant Federal Law	5
State and Local Law	6
Legal Issues Relevant to Food Donation	7
Food Safety for Donations	7
Date Labeling	8
Liability Protection for Food Donations	9
Taxes	11
Incentives	11
Barriers	13
Donation Requirements or Food Waste Penalties	13
Government Grants and Incentives	14
Miscellaneous	15
Conclusion	16

## INTRODUCTION\_

# **Purpose of this Guide**

Food loss and waste has emerged as one of the greatest food system challenges that we face today. An estimated one-third of food produced globally is lost or wasted along the supply chain;¹ this amounts to approximately 1.3 billion tons of food each year that ends up in the landfill.² Food loss or waste occurs at every stage of the food system: food is lost during the initial harvest due to low market prices, high labor costs, and demand for perfect-looking produce; food is wasted by grocery stores and restaurants over-estimating customer demands; and food is discarded by consumers who engage in inefficient shopping and cooking practices and lack a clear understanding about date labels.³

These behaviors have significant environmental, economic, and social consequences: food that is lost or wasted has a huge carbon footprint of 3.3 gigatons,<sup>4</sup> using roughly 28% of agricultural land,<sup>5</sup> and accounting for eight percent, or 70 billion tons, of total global greenhouse gas emissions.<sup>6</sup> The market value of food products lost or wasted is approximately \$940 billion per year.<sup>7</sup> Meanwhile, more than 820 million people are undernourished and one in nine is food insecure.<sup>8</sup> The international community has sought to address this paradox and mobilize the reduction of food waste, especially within the framework of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and Sustainable Development Goal 12.3.<sup>9</sup>

In many countries, food donation has emerged as a popular and logical solution to redirect safe, surplus food into the hands of those who need it most. Most food donations are facilitated through food banks or other charitable, non-governmental organizations that recover surplus, wholesome food and redirect the recovered food to local beneficiary agencies (such as soup kitchens, shelters, and community pantries) to feed low-income, food insecure persons. As food insecurity, food loss, and food waste have continued to rise, new, innovative models of food recovery have emerged around the world.

However, uncertainty surrounding the laws and regulations most relevant to food donation threatens to hinder the expansion of these food recovery organizations and limit their potential impact. To help address the most pressing and universal legal and policy questions, the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic (FLPC) and The Global FoodBanking Network (GFN) have partnered to create The Global Food Donation Policy Atlas. <sup>10</sup> This innovative partnership will map the laws and policies affecting donations in 15 countries over the course of two years. The project aims to: identify national laws relating to food donation, analyze the most common legal barriers to promoting greater food donation and share best practices and recommendations for overcoming these barriers.

THE PROJECT AIMS TO IDENTIFY AND EXPLAIN NATIONAL LAWS RELATING TO FOOD DONATION, ANALYZE THE MOST COMMON LEGAL BARRIERS TO PROMOTING GREATER FOOD DONATION AND SHARE BEST PRACTICES AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR OVERCOMING THESE BARRIERS.

**This Legal Guide focuses on the United States**, where every year 63 million tons of food winds up in landfills, costing the U.S. about \$218 billion each year to grow, process, transport and dispose of food that is never eaten. At the same time, 11.1 percent of U.S. households were food insecure in 2018. FLPC and GFN, in collaboration with partners in the U.S., have developed this resource to help food donors, food banks and food recovery organizations understand the relevant legal frameworks that impact food waste and donation efforts.

After providing initial commentary on food loss and recovery in the United States in Section I, Section II of this guide provides an overview of the legal frameworks most relevant to food donation at the national and state

level. The subsequent sections take a closer look at the laws generally applicable to food donation: food safety laws and regulations, food date labeling laws, "Good Samaritan" or liability protection laws, tax incentives for food donation and tax policy disincentives, and waste diversion laws that penalize food waste or require food donation or recovery. The extent to which a particular country has developed and subsequently implemented these authorities may vary.

# State of Food Insecurity, Food Loss, Waste, and Recovery in the United States

Policies to prevent food loss and waste and to promote food donation gain new importance when a country's socio-economic conditions perpetuate food insecurity, especially among the most vulnerable. This is the case in the United States, which, despite possessing the world's largest GDP and highest net wealth, is experiencing greater income inequality than it has in 50 years. In 2018, 38.1 million Americans lived in poverty, or 11.8% of the country's population. He million people rely on emergency food assistance through food banks every year. Nearly 40 percent of food produced in the United States is wasted, while 1 in 8 Americans is food insecure, meaning that they lack access to a sufficient amount of food to lead an active, healthy lifestyle.

Against this socio-economic backdrop, the United States has attempted to address some of the underlying concerns contributing to food waste through advisory opinions and regulations on date labeling, liability protections, and tax incentives for food donations. However, awareness and understanding of these tools differs and has varying degrees of success among food donors. In addition to utilizing those tools, some states and local municipalities utilize organic waste bans or food waste diversion requirements.<sup>17</sup>

Nevertheless, 63 million tons of food winds up in landfills each year, costing the U.S. about \$218 billion each year to grow, process, transport and dispose of food that is never eaten. Food is wasted at each stage of production: some food never leaves the farm (or another source), while other foods spoil or are otherwise wasted by producers, wholesalers, and retailers. Finally, much of the food purchased by consumers is thrown out, often due to misinformation about food safety and date labeling on the package.

At the same time, the land allocated to grow food, the use of scarce resources like water, the fossil fuels used to ship it, and the space used to store it are all wasted when food ends up in a landfill. To illustrate, food waste consumes 21 percent of all fresh water, 19 percent of fertilizer, and 18 percent of cropland in the U.S.<sup>21</sup> As it decomposes, this food emits methane, a greenhouse gas 25 times more potent than carbon dioxide.<sup>22</sup> The biggest tragedy is that while millions of tons of food needlessly go to waste, about 11 percent of American households experience food insecurity.<sup>23</sup>

The United States by the Numbers					
Population <b>329,350,564</b>	Prevalence of Severe Food Insecurity 1.0%	World Bank Classification <b>High Income</b>			
Median Age <b>38.5 years</b>	Global Food Security Index 83.7	Human Development Index <b>0.920</b>			
GDP <b>\$20.544</b> trillion	GINI Index 41.5	FLW Estimates  63 million tons			
Poverty Rate <b>11.8%</b>	Food Sustainability Index <b>68.6</b>				

# OVERVIEW OF THE UNITED STATES' RELEVANT LEGAL FRAMEWORK \_\_\_\_

The United States legal system is divided between the federal government and the fifty states and the District of Columbia. At the federal level, there are three branches of government: the legislative branch, which makes laws; the executive branch, which consists of the President and the executive agencies and implements and enforces the laws; and the judicial branch, which evaluates the laws and interprets them. In terms of the hierarchy of legal sources, the first binding source is the U.S. Constitution, followed by (on the federal level) federal statutes, federal administrative agency rules, and federal court decisions, which are accorded precedential weight (known as "common law"). States have the same three branches of government; states make their own laws, carry them out, and have their own court systems to interpret them.

Under the U.S. Constitution, states have control over all government powers not exclusively enumerated in the Constitution as federal powers.<sup>24</sup> In the areas in which the federal government has authority to govern, federal laws generally override state laws; however, if there is no applicable federal law and no reason to believe the federal government has intended to preempt state law in that area, despite being an area over which the federal government has authority, states are generally free to act in that area.

In general, federal authority to regulate food stems from the power given to the federal government under the Constitution to regulate goods and products in interstate commerce. Under this authority, the federal government generally has the power to regulate domestic and imported food that substantially affects<sup>25</sup> or is marketed in interstate commerce, meaning food that moves across state lines.<sup>26</sup> Congress passes statutes that create broad mandates, and delegate authority to federal agencies to fill in the details. More than fifteen different agencies have some regulatory authority over food; however, as discussed below, the two most important are the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the Department of Agriculture (USDA), which have authority over the safety and labeling of the majority of the food supply.<sup>27</sup>

Agencies carry out the powers that Congress has delegated to them by publishing detailed regulations related to a federal statute. In addition to these regulations, agencies often issue guidance or policy statements, which inform the public of the agency's interpretation of a particular statute or regulation. Agencies also play an enforcement role, monitoring compliance with statutes or regulations by businesses and individuals, and taking action against those entities for failure to comply with statutes or regulations. Courts have the power to ensure that laws and regulations are consistent with the U.S. Constitution and to decide whether Congress or different federal agencies have overstepped their authority, as well as to hold individuals and organizations accountable for violations of the law.

# **United States' Food Safety Laws**

Food law in the United States is a complex system engaging an array of federal administrative agencies, as well as a division of labor across federal and state governments. At the federal level, the U.S. Code is divided into 50 titles, arranged by subjects. Most food-related laws can be found in Title 21 of the U.S. Code, entitled "Food and Drugs."

Many agencies play a role in food regulation, but the most important are the FDA and USDA. FDA has statutory authority to regulate the safety and labeling of all foods with the exception of meat, poultry, and some fish, under the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act of 1938 (FDCA), and its amendments in the Nutritional Labeling and

FOOD LAW IN THE UNITED STATES IS A COMPLEX SYSTEM ENGAGING AN ARRAY OF FEDERAL ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCIES.

Education Act of 1990, the Fair Packaging and Labeling Act of 1966, the Infant Formula Act of 1980, and the Food Safety Modernization Act of 2011. USDA has jurisdiction to regulate meat, poultry, and certain egg products, under the Poultry Products Inspection Act of 1957, the Federal Meat Inspection Act of 1906, the Egg Products Inspection Act of 1970, the Perishable Agricultural Commodities Act of 1930, and the Agricultural Marketing Act of 1946. PDA and USDA share jurisdiction over certain products including eggs. In addition, both the FDA and USDA regulate food labeling for the products that fall within their respective jurisdictions.

Beyond FDA and USDA, the Federal Trade Commission is responsible for regulating food advertising, including taking enforcement actions against deceptive food advertising.<sup>32</sup> The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) sets standards and regulates to support a clean environment. EPA has the authority to regulate solid and hazardous waste under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act.<sup>33</sup> Within its mandate under RCRA, EPA has developed the Sustainable Materials Management (SMM) Program, which works to improve use and reuse of many products. The SMM program works to promote sustainable management of food,<sup>34</sup> and leads various programs meant to reduce food waste.<sup>35</sup>

Federal agencies create the laws and carry out the inspections for food processing plants and production facilities that create products that will travel interstate.<sup>36</sup> However, for the most part, the federal government does not license and inspect food establishments such as restaurants and retail stores.<sup>37</sup> This is because those foods are being sold in-state, rather than across state lines. Scholars argue that FDA has the authority to regulate food retail if it chooses, because it has the authority to prevent adulteration or mislabeling of food held for sale "after shipment in interstate commerce." However, the agency's authority over food retail sales has not been tested, since the agency has restrained from exercising such authority for lack of resources and leaves regulation of such entities up to the states.<sup>39</sup>

# **Bill Emerson Good Samaritan Food Donation Act**

The Bill Emerson Good Samaritan Food Donation Act was enacted in 1996 and was designed to increase food donations while reducing food waste.<sup>40</sup> The Emerson Act provides comprehensive civil and criminal liability protection for food donors and nonprofit organizations that distribute food donations to those in need, as long as they act without gross negligence or intentional misconduct.<sup>41</sup> The act also specifies that in order to be eligible for liability protection, donations must be intended for ultimate distribution to needy individuals, who must not pay anything of monetary value for the donated food.<sup>42</sup>

THE EMERSON ACT PROVIDES COMPREHENSIVE CIVIL AND CRIMINAL LIABILITY PROTECTION FOR FOOD DONORS AND NONPROFIT ORGANIZATIONS THAT DISTRIBUTE FOOD TO THOSE IN NEED.

In addition to the Emerson Act's federal liability protection, all 50 states also offer liability protection for food donation. Several states offer additional protections above that offered under federal law. It is important to note, however, that the federal protection in the Emerson Act offers a floor of federal protection; this means that states cannot offer any less protection than that offered under the Emerson Act; they can only offer additional protection.

Many other federal laws impact food donation, as are explained below; however, these are the key federal laws specifically crafted to address food donation.

# Federal Agency Activities and Programs on Food Waste Reduction

Awareness of the problems arising from food waste and efforts to improve and resolve the situation have increased over the years. In 2015, the USDA and the EPA set a national goal to reduce food waste levels in the United States by 50 percent by 2030.<sup>43</sup> The goal aims to reduce food waste to 109.4 pounds per capita by 2030 (which is half the waste per capita in 2010).

In 2018, USDA, EPA, and FDA signed a joint agency formal agreement,<sup>44</sup> with the intention to reduce food loss and waste. In 2019, the three agencies followed by launching the Winning on Reducing Food Waste Federal Interagency Strategy.<sup>45</sup> The strategy includes several important aspects, such as clarifying roles and responsibilities of each agency, forging new partnerships with stakeholders and expanding existing ones, and enhancing food donations through federal policy.<sup>46</sup>

In addition, USDA and EPA host several initiatives aimed at reducing food waste. The Food Waste Challenge, a shared venture of EPA and the USDA, was launched in 2013 with a goal to have 400 partner organizations by 2015 and 1,000 by 2020.<sup>47</sup> The Food Waste Challenge created a call for actors across the food chain, from other government agencies to retailers, to take action and join the efforts to reduce food waste.<sup>48</sup> It has since been merged into the other recognition programs. EPA and USDA also jointly implement the U.S. Food Loss and Waste 2030 Champions, which encourages businesses and organizations to publicly announce their commitment to reduce food waste by 50% by the year 2030.<sup>49</sup>

The USDA maintains several food waste initiatives focused on food manufacturers, farm and post-harvest, schools, businesses, and consumer households.<sup>50</sup> For example, in the school context, the USDA has guidance encouraging the implementation of share tables in cafeterias, which are tables where kids can place unopened or whole foods they do not intend to eat, so other kids can take them and consume during or after mealtime.<sup>51</sup> In addition, as mandated by the 2018 Farm Bill, USDA will create a Food Loss and Waste Liaison to coordinate federal programs aimed at measuring and reducing food loss and waste.<sup>52</sup>

The EPA also provides several programs and resources related to food recovery, such as the Too Good To Waste program, an implementation guide and toolkit meant to help reduce practices that lead to food waste in American households,<sup>53</sup> and the Excess Food Opportunities Map, which maps surplus food and locations for it to be recovered.<sup>54</sup> The EPA also hosts the Food Recovery Challenge, in which organizations state their commitment to improving sustainable food management practices and report their results.<sup>55</sup>

IN 2015, THE USDA AND EPA SET A NATIONAL GOAL TO REDUCE FOOD WASTE LEVELS IN THE UNITED STATES BY 50 PERCENT BY 2030. THE GOAL AIMS TO REDUCE FOOD WASTE TO 109.4 POUNDS PER CAPITA BY 2030.

### **Other Relevant Federal Laws**

Another relevant area of federal law that impacts food donation is the Internal Revenue Code (IRC), which governs the federal tax system. While taxes operate to raise funds for government,<sup>56</sup> the tax code also is used to influence taxpayers' behaviors.<sup>57</sup> Beneficial activities such as donating surplus wholesome food can be incentivized through the tax system. As will be detailed later in this guide, the IRC offers a federal enhanced tax deduction for eligible food donations.<sup>58</sup>

## **State and Local Law**

#### **State Power Over Food Safety**

Federal laws and regulations apply to food processing facilities that create products that will enter interstate commerce, and to the labeling of food products in interstate commerce. Though federal law regulates food manufacturing and labeling for food sold in interstate commerce, federal food safety laws leave states a great deal of authority to pass and enforce laws relating to foods sold within the state. 60

State governments are responsible for regulating and enforcing food safety for retail and food service establishments within their borders. This state regulatory authority is structured differently in different states. Most states designate their health department to oversee restaurants and retail food establishments. Some states designate their agriculture department to regulate food safety. Other states divide up regulatory authority between these two agencies and give authority to the health department to oversee restaurants, and authority to the agriculture department to oversee retailers and grocery stores (including restaurants inside grocery stores). In some states, the state agency or agencies regulating food safety share regulatory authority with local health departments. In such states, the state agency enacts food safety regulations that apply statewide, while local health departments interpret and enforce those regulations, and generally also have the option to implement stricter local regulations.

ALTHOUGH THE FDA FOOD CODE IS NOT BINDING UNLESS A STATE OR LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHOOSES TO ADOPT IT, IT HAS A SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON STATE FOOD SAFETY LAWS. ALL 50 STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA HAVE ADOPTED SOME VERSION OF THE FDA FOOD CODE.

While the federal government does not directly regulate retail food establishments, it plays a key role in influencing the state laws regarding these entities by providing model food safety regulations for restaurants and retail stores in the FDA Food Code. Although the FDA Food Code is not binding unless a state or local government chooses to adopt it, it has a significant impact on state food safety laws. All 50 states and the District of Columbia have adopted some version of the FDA Food Code. States are free to modify the Food Code in any manner they see fit when they adopt it into their laws or regulations; however, most state modifications are minor. This means that language in the FDA Food Code tends to make up the majority of state and local food safety codes, while concepts that are not addressed in the FDA Food Code are often not addressed by state and local codes. The FDA Food Code does not mention food donation, so this topic generally is not included in state laws. The FDA Food Code does not mention food donation, so this topic generally is not included in state laws.

#### Other Relevant State and Local Law

Most states collect personal income tax in addition to federal income tax. As of 2018, the states that do not impose such a tax are Alaska, Florida, New Hampshire, South Dakota, Texas and Wyoming. <sup>67</sup> In addition to income tax, states often place sale taxes on goods and services. This tax is used by most states in the United states. <sup>68</sup> As will be described later in this guide, in addition to the federal tax incentives for food donations, a number of states have enacted state-level tax incentives for such donations. <sup>69</sup>

Many states and localities are taking action to reduce food waste and increase food donation. Several states and localities have enacted organic waste bans or waste diversion requirements, which impose penalties for excess food sent to landfills. Many states also offer liability protection for food donations that is more robust than the protection afforded by the federal Emerson Act. In addition, many states have provided tax incentives for the donation of wholesome food. These topics are discussed below.

# LEGAL ISSUES RELEVANT TO FOOD DONATION

# **Food Safety for Donations**

A key barrier to the donation of surplus food can be the lack of knowledge or readily available guidance regarding safety procedures for food donation. All donated food should be safe for consumption and comply with applicable food safety laws and regulations. Potential donors, however, are often uncertain as to which food safety regulations apply to donated food, as opposed to purchased food, as well as the steps necessary to safely donate food in compliance with applicable regulations. As a result, safe, surplus food that could have been redirected to populations in need is instead destined for landfills.

Federal regulation of food safety is enshrined in several statutes, with the most important being the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA), Poultry Products Inspection Act, Federal Meat Inspection Act, Egg Products Inspection Act, and Perishable Agricultural Commodities Act. Authority to develop standards and enforce these acts extends across multiple agencies, though the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) are the two primary agencies with federal food safety authority. These federal agencies develop specific requirements and inspect food production and processing at farms, food manufacturing facilities, and slaughterhouses. However, U.S. federal food safety legislation and the regulations developed by FDA and USDA under this legislation generally do not mention the food safety practices that should be followed for food donations. With the exception of a recent USDA directive on donation of food with certain labeling flaws, there also is no guidance regarding food safety for food donations by facilities that are regulated and inspected directly by FDA or USDA. Further, food banks and food recovery organizations struggle to understand whether they are subject to inspections under federal laws, and what practices they should follow. Despite the outstanding legal questions, the clear liability protection provided under federal law for food donors and food recovery organizations (discussed below), coupled with the federal agencies' stated goals to support food waste reduction, should provide comfort to food donors that donation is allowed and supported under federal law.

In the U.S., food safety regulation and enforcement for restaurants and retail stores is carried out by state governments rather than the federal government. However, the federal government plays a key role in influencing state laws through publication of the FDA Food Code, which provides model food safety regulations for restaurants and retail stores<sup>74</sup> and has been adopted in some form by all 50 states.<sup>75</sup> The Food Code does not include language or guidance regarding food safety for food donations;<sup>76</sup> as a result, most states do not have regulations that delineate the food safety requirements for food donation.<sup>77</sup> Thus, donors often have trouble determining which food safety regulations apply to the foods they wish to donate or lack clarity as to what food items are allowed to be donated.<sup>78</sup>

Though the Food Code is published by the FDA, the recommendations for what changes to make to the Food Code come from an expert body called the Conference for Food Protection (CFP), which examines and reports on best practices for food safety. In the late 1990s, the USDA and the FDA, working with the CFP, responded to inquiries about safe practices for food recovery organizations by creating the Comprehensive Resource for Food Recovery Programs, a federally-endorsed guidance document that provides safety information for food donations to food recovery organizations and food banks. The Comprehensive Resource, which was most recently updated in 2016, is primarily intended as guidance for the operation of food recovery programs, rather than for food donors. The Comprehensive Resource is not included in the FDA Food Code and is not as widely disseminated as the Food Code; as a result, state regulators, health inspectors, and donors are not as familiar with its guidance.

In 2018, the CFP created a Food Recovery Committee to address the question of whether and what language

on food donations could potentially be added to the FDA Food Code to better guide state regulations on safety practices for food donations. Creating regulations for food safety for food donations was one of 25 recommendations for changes to the FDA Food Code that CFP included in its letter to the FDA after the 2018 CFP meeting. In the FDA's response letter, the FDA expressed general agreement with 14 of the recommendations, partial concurrence with two of the recommendations, and stated that the FDA either does not agree with or will consider the other nine recommendations. The recommendation to add a section to the CFP on food safety for donations was in FDA's category for "does not agree or will consider," with FDA noting that it would consider suggestions developed by the CFP Food Recovery Committee on the matter. The CFP meets again in 2020.

Several states do have regulations or guidance relating to food safety for donated foods, but most of these are very specific to just one type of food. For example, several states have guidance on food safety for "share tables," or tables placed in schools for students to leave their excess (whole or unopened) food to make it available to other students. A few states have laws relating to the donation of surplus wild game from hunting activities. According to a 2018 survey of state regulations on the topic, only Texas had a comprehensive regulation explaining food safety procedures to be followed for food donation.

# **Date Labeling**

Date labels affixed to food products are a major driver of food waste and obstacle to food donation. Date labels are the dates on food packaging that are accompanied by phrases such as "use by," "best before," "sell by," "enjoy by," and "expires on." As explained in the previous section, most food donors and food banks are appropriately cautious about donating food that meets safety standards, but it is not always clear which standards relate to food safety. While fresh products like fruits and vegetables will appear visibly spoiled when they are no longer safe to consume, it can be more difficult to gauge when this is the case for packaged foods. Many donors interpret date labels affixed to such food products as indicators of safety and will therefore throw away food once the date has passed; food recovery organizations also may refuse to accept donated food after this date, deeming the food product unfit for human consumption.

Contrary to this perception, date labels generally are intended to indicate freshness or quality rather than food safety for the vast majority of foods. Manufacturers use a variety of methods to determine the timeframe for label dates, almost all of which are intended to reflect when the food will be at its "peak quality." Nevertheless, global trends indicate that consumers generally confuse date labels as indicators of safety rather than quality. This confusion leads, in turn, to considerable food waste. In the United Kingdom, for example, researchers found that consumers discarded about twenty-two percent of food that they could have eaten due to confusion over date labeling. Similarly, eighty-four percent of Americans report that they throw away food after the date passes due to safety concerns, even if there is minimal risk of foodborne illness at that time.

In the United, States, there is no federal law regulating date labels on food products other than infant formula, <sup>95</sup> and no restrictions on sale or donation of food past the date. The U.S. Congress has given general authority to the FDA and the USDA to protect consumers from deceptive or misleading food labeling. <sup>96</sup> However, the FDA and the USDA have not used this authority to regulate date labels.

As noted above, the FDA does not require date labels on foods other than infant formula.<sup>97</sup> While food manufacturers are thus free to select whether to use a date label and what phrase to include, in 2019, the FDA published a letter encouraging the food industry to use the phrase "Best if Used By" on products if a date label is meant to indicate quality. <sup>98</sup> The USDA also does not require date labels on the foods it regulates, which are meat, poultry, and some egg products. <sup>99</sup> If USDA-regulated foods are dated, either as required under state law or voluntarily, USDA does require them to include: (i) a day and month (and year for frozen or shelf-stable products) and (ii) an explanatory phrase, such as "Sell by" or "Best if used by." <sup>100</sup> While food manufacturers are free to select which explanatory phrase to include on a date label, in 2017 USDA released a guidance document recommending "Best if Used By" be used for products where the date is intended as an indicator of quality. <sup>101</sup>

As federal regulation of date labels is so limited, states have vast discretion to regulate date labels. Thus, each state regulates date labels differently. Some states have used their discretion enthusiastically, creating a system of stringent requirements for date labels, while others have not regulated date labels at all. <sup>102</sup> For instance, Michigan requires date labels on pre-packaged perishable foods <sup>103</sup> and dairy products, <sup>104</sup> and restricts the sale of both of these items once the labeled date has passed, <sup>105</sup> while New York does not require date labels on any food products and does not regulate the sale of past-date foods. <sup>106</sup> Twenty states place restrictions on sale and, in some cases, donation, of food past the label date. <sup>107</sup> The result is an inconsistent state-by-state regulatory scheme which has created confusion. <sup>108</sup>

In the absence of federally-mandated date labels, some food businesses have sought to make date labeling clearer. In 2017, the Consumer Brands Association (formerly called the Grocery Manufacturer's Association)<sup>109</sup> and the Food Marketing Institute launched a voluntary Product Code Dating Initiative in an effort to standardize industry date labels. The Initiative encourages companies to use only one of two labels on food products: either a "BEST if Used by" label on a product to indicate quality or freshness or a "USE by" label to indicate that a food may have increased risk past the date and should be discarded. According to a related study, eighty-eight percent of Americans found these streamlined phrases to be clear. While many companies have agreed to use these standard labels, they are not required to by law and utilization is still voluntary.

In recent years, some states also have attempted to clarify and standardize date labels.<sup>113</sup> For example, both New Jersey<sup>114</sup> and California,<sup>115</sup> have enacted laws requiring or encouraging the use of the same phrases recommended by the Product Code Dating Initiative. Legislation pending before Congress would require use of these standard phrases under federal law as well.<sup>116</sup>

# **Liability Protection for Food Donations**

A significant barrier to food donation is the fear among donors that they will be found liable if someone becomes sick after consuming donated food. In the U.S., the Bill Emerson Good Samaritan Act has been in existence since 1996 and provides comprehensive federal protection from civil and criminal liability to food donors and nonprofit organizations for food donations. <sup>117</sup> The Act protects both food donors and the nonprofit organizations that receive and distribute the food, as it provides protection to individuals, businesses, nonprofit food recovery organizations, the officers of businesses and nonprofit organizations, and gleaners—individuals that harvest donated agricultural crops for a nonprofit organization that distributes the food to the needy. <sup>118</sup>

With respect to gleaners, the Act not only protects against liability arising from the consumption of donated food, but also protects the property owner from liability related to injuries the gleaner might sustain while on the property. Federal law also explicitly grants liability protection to schools and local educational agencies that donate excess food. On the property of the

The Emerson Act protections apply so long as the following criteria are met:

- 1) Donation Recipient: The donor must donate to a nonprofit organization that distributes the food to needy populations. Direct donations from the donor to needy individuals are not protected by the Act.<sup>121</sup>
- 2) Good Faith: The donations must be made in good faith. 122
- **3) Qualifying Foods:** The donor must donate qualifying foods unless specific reconditioning steps have been taken. <sup>123</sup> Qualifying foods are those that meet "all quality and labeling standards imposed by Federal, State, and local laws and regulations," even if they are not "readily marketable due to appearance, age, freshness, grade, size, surplus, or other conditions." <sup>124</sup>
  - Exception for Non-Qualifying Food: If a food does not meet all applicable federal, state, and

local standards, the donor can still be protected by the Emerson Act as long as they follow all of the Act's reconditioning procedures, which include:

- · The donor informs the nonprofit of the nonconforming nature of the product;125
- · The nonprofit agrees to recondition the item so that it is compliant; 126 and
- · The nonprofit knows the standards for reconditioning the item. 127
- **4) No Charge for Food:** The ultimate recipients cannot pay anything of monetary value for the donated food. However, if one nonprofit provides donated food to another nonprofit for distribution, the Act allows the first nonprofit to charge the distributing nonprofit a nominal fee to cover handling and processing costs. 128

Types of Donations <u>not</u> Covered by the Emerson Act: In addition to meeting the above requirements, in order to receive liability protection, donors or nonprofit organizations may not act with gross negligence or intentional misconduct. Gross negligence involves "voluntary and conscious conduct (including a failure to act)" by a person or organization that knew when the donation was made that the donated food was likely to have harmful health impacts. Intentional misconduct means donating "with knowledge... that the conduct is harmful to the health or well-being of another person." The Act gives little guidance on what activities qualify as gross negligence or intentional misconduct; however, it is clear that to receive protection the food donor or food recovery organization should not donate or facilitate the distribution of donated food that it knows is likely to be harmful or dangerous.

The Emerson Act offers a generous grant of protection. For most products, courts will find a company liable if they find that the company was "negligent" (which is a lower threshold than "grossly negligent"). However, for food products, courts generally apply a "strict liability" standard. This means that there is a presumption that the company was liable, so long as the plaintiff proves that they consumed the product and suffered an illness or injury.<sup>132</sup> The Emerson Act changes the liability standard with respect to donations of food or grocery products from strict liability (for food) or ordinary negligence (for grocery products) to the more egregious gross negligence or intentional misconduct standards.

A donation beyond that which is protected by the Emerson Act is not necessarily prohibited by law, so long as the food meets all food safety laws. However, only donations that are in compliance with the Emerson Act's requirements will maintain liability protection for the donor and distributing organization. <sup>133</sup> For example, while the Emerson Act only protects donations made by a donor to a nonprofit organization that then distributes the food to those in need, a food donor can legally donate wholesome food directly to a needy individual. However, such a donor will not receive the Emerson Act's liability protection. <sup>134</sup>

Federal legislation passed in 2018 through the U.S. Farm Bill added a new defined term, "qualified direct donor," that appears to expand the liability protection to certain qualified donors that are protected if donating directly to the needy, rather than having to donate to a nonprofit distributing organization. <sup>135</sup> Qualified direct donors are defined as "a retail food store, wholesaler, agricultural producer, restaurant, caterer, school food authority, or institution of higher education. <sup>136</sup> However, the 2018 Farm Bill does not amend the Emerson Act directly, so the implications of this change in terms of protections afforded such donations is still not clear.

Despite having this liability protection in place since 1996, a 2016 survey conducted by the Food Waste Reduction Alliance (FWRA) found that 50% of food manufacturers, 25% of retailers and wholesalers, and 39% of restaurants cite liability as a barrier to food donation. This is primarily because some provisions of the Emerson Act are still unclear, so donors remain afraid of legal liability. No food donor has been sued for damages caused by donated food. While this should provide some comfort to food donors, it also means that as a result, there are no judicial opinions interpreting the law. Similarly, no federal agency has promulgated any rules relating to this act, though in late 2019 USDA released responses to basic frequently asked questions on the Emerson Act.

On top of the protection provided by the Emerson Act, states also provide their own liability protection for

food donors and food recovery organizations.<sup>141</sup> All fifty states have passed state liability protection acts, and several states have expanded upon the protections afforded by the Emerson Act. For example, a number of states offer protection for donors that donate directly to the final recipient.<sup>142</sup> As another example, several states offer liability protection for donors and nonprofit food recovery organizations if the food recovery organization charges the final recipient a low price for the food.<sup>143</sup>

#### **Taxes**

Reducing food loss and waste results in sizable economic benefits to society, as it minimizes the environmental costs associated with producing food that is ultimately sent to the landfill. Food donation also helps mitigate the costs of hunger and stimulates the economy, as food recovery organizations provide jobs and recipients of donated food are able to spend limited financial resources on other basic goods and services. Many food donors turned to food banks as a waste solution for excess food, and worked to support the formation of a national network of food banks to ease coordinating national distribution of food donations. Yet food donation can also be expensive, as food donors must allocate time and money to train staff as well as harvest, package, store, and transport surplus food that otherwise would be discarded. As a result, it is sometimes less expensive, and easier, for farmers, businesses, and private individuals to throw away food rather than donate food. Some countries have sought to address this issue by offering tax incentives and removing tax barriers to food donation.

#### **Incentives**

Individuals and corporations in the United States pay more than \$2.2 trillion dollars of income tax each year.<sup>144</sup> The bulk of the taxes collected (primarily on income, sales, and property) are paid to the federal and state governments while a smaller portion is paid to local and municipal governments.<sup>145</sup>

Although the tax system's primary objective is to raise funds for government, taxes are also used to influence behaviors through incentives and penalties. Tax incentives, including tax deductions and tax credits for food donation, can provide significant support for food donation efforts and for the reduction of food loss and waste. A deduction is a reduction of the taxpayer's taxable income, whereas a credit is a direct reduction in the amount of taxes owed. The reduction is a reduction in the amount of taxes owed.

Taxpayers who donate property that could have otherwise provided them income, including food products, are eligible for a tax deduction under U.S. law. U.S. taxpayers who donate food are eligible for two deductions: one is the general deduction that applies to all charitable contributions and the other is an enhanced tax deduction that offers a higher benefit specifically for qualified food donations.

**General tax deduction requirements:** In order for a charitable contribution to qualify for a federal tax deduction, the donation must be used for charitable purposes and given to a qualified organization as laid out under section 170 of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC).<sup>148</sup> For the general deduction, the taxpayer may claim a tax deduction in the amount of the property's basis,<sup>149</sup> which is usually the cost to the business to acquire the product. Businesses other than C-corporations (corporations structured in a way such that owners/shareholders are taxed separately from the entity)— including S-corporations,<sup>150</sup> sole proprietorships,<sup>151</sup> and some LLCs<sup>152</sup> — cannot deduct more than either 30% or 50% of the business' total taxable income each year, depending on the type of organization to which the business is donating.<sup>153</sup> C-corporations generally cannot deduct more than 10% of their taxable income each year.<sup>154</sup>

**Enhanced tax deduction requirements:** The enhanced tax deduction provides an extra incentive for donation of food products by allowing the donating business to deduct the lesser of (a) twice the basis value of the donated food or (b) the basis value of the donated food plus one-half of the food's expected profit margin (if the food were to be sold at fair market value). This deduction can amount to as much as twice the general deduction. Further, under the enhanced deduction, all businesses may deduct up to 15% of their taxable income for food donations. The food donations of the food donations of the food donations deduction.

Example: A grocery store donates potatoes with a fair market value of \$100. The basis value of these potatoes was \$30. The expected profit margin is the fair market value minus the basis value (\$100 - \$30), which is \$70. Under the enhanced deduction, the grocery store is eligible to deduct the smaller of:

- (a) Basis Value x.2 = \$30 x.2 = \$60, or
- (b) Basis Value + (expected profit margin /2) = \$30 + (\$70/2) = \$65

The enhanced deduction would be \$60, which is substantially higher than the general deduction (the \$30 basis value).

In order to qualify for the enhanced tax deduction, a business must donate to a recipient organization that meets several criteria:

- 1. The donation must go to a qualified domestic 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization that uses the food solely for the care of the ill, needy, or infants.<sup>157</sup>
- 2. The recipient organization must use the donated food in a manner consistent with the organization's 501(c)(3) exempt status.<sup>158</sup>
- 3. The recipient organization may not use or transfer the food in exchange for money, property or other services. <sup>159</sup> Note, however, that the recipient organization can charge another organization a "nominal" amount that is "designed to reimburse the [recipient] organization for its administrative, warehousing, or other similar costs." <sup>160</sup>
- 4. The donor must receive from the recipient organization a written statement which:
  - Describes the contributed property, stating the date of its receipt;
  - Represents that the property will be used for a qualified purpose (i.e. that the use of the property is related to the 501(c)(3) tax-exempt purpose or function of the nonprofit distributing organization);
  - Represents that the recipient organization is recognized as exempt from federal income tax under I.R.C. 501(c)(3); and
  - Represents that adequate books and records will be maintained and made available to the Internal Revenue Service upon request. 161
- 5. Finally, the donated property must satisfy the requirements of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA) at the time of donation and for the preceding 180 days. For food that did not exist for 180 days prior to donation, this requirement is satisfied if the food was in compliance with the FDCA for the period of its existence and at donation, and any similar property held by the donor during the 180 days prior to donation was also held in compliance with the FDCA. 163

Businesses that do not account for inventories and are not required to capitalize indirect costs have the option to calculate the basis value at 25% of the products' fair market value. Businesses also have the option to calculate the fair market value of products that cannot be sold because of failure to meet internal standards, lack of a market, or similar reasons by using the price of the same or substantially similar, saleable food items. 165

In addition, a growing number of states are realizing they can spur increased food donation by providing state-level tax incentives that are tailored to farms and businesses within their states. At present, twelve states (Arizona, California, Colorado, Iowa, Kentucky, Maryland, Missouri, New York, Oregon, South Carolina, Virginia and West Virginia) offer tax incentives specifically targeted at food recovery efforts. <sup>166</sup> Each state's incentive for food donations is unique. For example, all states except Arizona offer tax credits instead of tax deductions. <sup>167</sup> Additionally, states offer tax incentives for different types of donors, ranging from farmers, to restaurants, to all taxpayers. <sup>168</sup> California provides one type of tax credit for farmers, and another for all food donors, with the latter targeted at costs associated with the transportation of food donation. <sup>169</sup> South Carolina offers a tax credit for the processing of deer meat for donation. <sup>170</sup> These sorts of tax incentives help to ensure that excess food is donated rather than thrown away.

#### **Barriers**

While tax incentives encourage food donations, certain tax schemes may stand as deterrents to donation. In several countries, the Value Added Tax (VAT) presents a financial barrier to donating food. The VAT is a federal tax that is levied on a good at each stage of the supply chain, from production to the point of sale, whenever value is added. In some countries, food donors may be responsible for paying a VAT charge on food that is donated, meaning that the donation itself may raise the tax burden, even if there was no value paid for the goods. <sup>171</sup> In such a case, throwing away food can be a better financial decision for companies than donating such food. The U.S. does not utilize a VAT, and no elements of the U.S. tax code pose a barrier to donation.

## **Donation Requirements or Food Waste Penalties**

Some countries have employed food donation requirements or impose monetary penalties for food that is sent to the landfill (often known as organic waste bans or waste diversion requirements) in order to influence business behavior and reduce needless waste. In the United States, there are currently no federal food donation requirements or organic waste bans. However, many state and local governments have enacted organic waste bans or waste diversion laws. In addition to reducing waste and improving landfill management, organic waste bans and waste recycling laws can help encourage food businesses to use their excess food as a resource by diverting it to higher uses. For example, after Vermont implemented an organic waste ban, the Vermont Food Bank saw food donations increase by sixty percent the following year. 172

Six states have instituted organic waste bans or mandatory organic waste recycling laws: California, <sup>173</sup> Connecticut, <sup>174</sup> Massachusetts, <sup>175</sup> New York, <sup>176</sup> Rhode Island, <sup>177</sup> and Vermont. <sup>178</sup> With the exception of California, all of the states have passed organic waste bans. These laws generally require "food waste generators"—the businesses, institutions, households, and other entities that create food waste—to reduce their food waste and make sure it is not being sent to a landfill. For example, Vermont's Universal Recycling Law bans disposal of food scraps in addition to "blue bin" recyclables and leaf and yard debris. All residents and businesses must divert food scraps, with larger businesses and institutions subject to the ban even earlier depending on the amount of food waste generated annually. <sup>179</sup>

In contrast, California's law is structured as a mandatory organics recycling law. The California waste recycling law requires entities to take a specific action with their organic waste, such as sending it to compost or anaerobic digestion. Businesses in California that generate four cubic yards of organic waste per week or more are required to recycle organic waste on-site or subscribe to organic waste recycling services. Progressive realization clause within the law will also phase in businesses that generate at least two cubic yards per week starting in 2020, in the event that fifty percent of the organic waste in the state has not yet been eliminated. California also recently passed a law that requires that at least twenty percent of edible food that meets certain eligibility criteria to be donated for human consumption rather than disposed of by 2025.

In addition to state-level waste recycling initiatives, many local municipal governments have sought to divert food from landfills as well. For example, New York City, New York requires large hospitality venues to sort and organize the transport of organic waste they create. The City of Austin, Texas requires large restaurants to compost food scraps. Austin has also enacted a non-binding zero waste target. Francisco, California and Seattle, Washington both require businesses and households to sort waste into separate categories. These laws are generally enforced through injunctions, restrictions on permits or licenses or civil fines.

### **Government Grants and Incentives**

Grants and incentive programs funded at the federal or local level offer another important resource for food donation initiatives. This is particularly true in countries where donors consider tax incentives to be insufficient to offset the costs of donation or where a lack of infrastructure limits food recovery efforts. For

example, government grants can help food donors and food banks acquire equipment and resources necessary for gleaning, storing, processing, and transporting food for donation. Government funding can also support new innovations and emerging technologies that will make food donation more efficient and sustainable.

One way the U.S. federal government provides financial assistance for food distribution is through The Emergency Food Assistance Program (TEFAP), a federal program that helps supplement the diets of low-income Americans by providing them with emergency food assistance at no cost. Under TEFAP, local agencies (usually food banks) receive food purchased by the USDA as well as financial assistance for administrative expenses. <sup>190</sup> The amount of food and financial assistance that each state receives is determined by a formula that is based on the percentage of the state's population living below the poverty line. <sup>191</sup> In addition to entitlement food funded through the farm bill, USDA also purchases U.S. commodities in need of market support and donates those foods to food banks through TEFAP. <sup>192</sup> Lastly, the 2018 Farm Bill <sup>193</sup> also provided \$4 million dollars annually from TEFAP to be allocated among states to operate Farm to Food Bank projects, a term that describes projects meant to increase the amount of fresh produce in food banks by supporting payments made to farmers for the labor involved in harvesting and preparing their surplus for donation. <sup>194</sup>

There are also a number of competitive federal grants that are not specifically crafted to support food donation, but that food banks and food recovery organizations often use to support their operations. One such grant is the Value-Added Producers Grant Program (VAPG),<sup>195</sup> which helps farmers get involved in value-added efforts related to the processing and marketing of products, with the goal of developing new products, expanding marketing opportunities, and increasing producer income. VAPG grant funding ranges from \$75,000 for a planning grant to \$250,000 for a working capital grant.<sup>196</sup> Another competitive federal grant program is the Community Food Projects Grant Program,<sup>197</sup> which awards grants to eligible nonprofits, tribal organizations, and food program service providers to promote self-sufficiency and increase food security in low-income communities by developing comprehensive, community-based solutions. Grants in this program range from \$35,000 - \$400,000.<sup>198</sup> The new Local Agriculture Marketing Program (LAMP)—which was created in the 2018 Farm Bill and combines two pre-existing programs, the Farmers Market Promotion Program (FMPP)<sup>199</sup> and the Local Food Promotion Program (LFPP)<sup>200</sup>—also now states that the funding can be used to support food recovery and business opportunities aiming to reduce food waste on farms.<sup>201</sup>

Government support for food banks also exists at the state level, where some states have appropriations for the purpose of supporting state food purchase programs. One example is the Massachusetts Emergency Food Assistance Program (MEFAP).<sup>202</sup> The program, established in 1995, ensures access to food through a public-private partnership between the Massachusetts Department of Agricultural Resources (MDAR) and four regional food banks. In 2018, total funding provided by MDAR for food purchasing was \$16,413,831, with another \$1 million provided for operational costs.<sup>203</sup> Another state-level program is the Pennsylvania Agricultural Surplus System (PASS), which compensates agricultural producers for distributing surplus produce to those in need of food assistance through over 1,800 local charitable partners.<sup>204</sup> Further, under the State Food Purchase Program, the state of Pennsylvania provided over \$18 million in 2018-19 to support food purchases for food banks in the state.<sup>205</sup> Ohio's Agricultural Clearance Program (OACP) purchases and distributes surplus agricultural goods from over 100 farmers and producers to 12 state food banks, supplementing federal programs like the Emergency Food Assistance Program (TEFAP). OACP distributed over 52 million pounds of produce in 2016.<sup>206</sup>

Similar grants also exist at the local level. For example, New York City has offered several types of mini-grants including a \$2,000 grant for small businesses to implement solutions for food waste reduction. <sup>207</sup> The Zero Waste Program of the San Francisco Department of the Environment distributed \$857,000 to non-profit organizations involved in reducing waste of various kinds between 2017-2019. <sup>208</sup> At the state level, one example comes from the Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation, which has given 13 grants totaling almost \$4 million to various entities combating food waste and organic waste. <sup>209</sup> The California Food Waste Prevention and Rescue Grant Program grants funds ranging from \$50,000 to \$500,000 to qualifying entities including local governments, universities, and nonprofits to reduce or reuse food. The program gave a total of \$5.75 million in the 2018-19 fiscal year. <sup>210</sup>

Lastly, in an effort to incentivize states to implement food waste reduction plans, the Agriculture Improvement Act of 2018 (2018 Farm Bill) authorized creation of the Compost and Food Waste Reduction Pilot program. If funds are appropriated, up to \$25 million could be used by USDA to support pilot projects in at least ten states to develop and implement municipal compost plans and food waste reductions plans.<sup>211</sup> These pilot programs will help create new infrastructure and incentives to recover food and address the harmful environmental impacts of food waste in landfills. However, as of the time of publication, Congress had not yet appropriated the funding for this pilot program.

#### **Miscellaneous**

In addition to the relevant laws addressed in the above sections, one other relevant U.S. law is the Federal Food Donation Act of 2008, which encourages all executive agencies that enter into contracts above \$25,000 for the provision or sale of food or foodservice, or for the use of federal property by private parties for events where food is provided, to donate excess food to nonprofit organizations that serve or distribute food to food insecure Americans. In order to comply with the Act, executive agencies must include a clause in all such contracts that encourage the contractor "to the maximum extent practicable and safe, to donate excess, apparently wholesome food to nonprofit organizations that provide assistance to food-insecure people in the United States." However, donation under this Act is not mandatory, and no records are kept as to the donations made pursuant to this Act so the impact is not known. 214

# CONCLUSION \_\_\_\_

This Legal Guide is intended to identify the United States' current laws, policies, and programs that relate to food waste or food donation.<sup>215</sup> While the federal government is primarily responsible for guaranteeing food security and sustainable food systems, food recovery organizations acting in a private capacity can provide an additional social safety net. In the U.S., the government has recently implemented legislative and policy changes to promote greater food donation and the reduction of food loss and waste. Among the most recent developments include the adoption of the Winning on Reducing Food Waste Federal Interagency and the EPA and USDA U.S. Food Loss and Waste 2030 Champions initiative.

This Legal Guide provides a starting point from which policymakers, private sector actors, and civil society may better understand the current laws and policies as well as begin a dialogue about food loss and waste prevention and the value of food recovery to U.S. food security, economic stability, and environmental sustainability. A separate document produced under The Global Food Donation Policy Atlas sets forth policy recommendations specific to the U.S. to contribute to this discussion. In the meantime, food donors and food recovery organizations should take into account the laws, policies and legal issues discussed in this Legal Guide when donating food or facilitating the distribution of donated food to those in need. To better understand the regulation of food donation in the U.S., donors, intermediaries, and policymakers should investigate the laws identified in this guide and seek additional legal counsel, if necessary.

## ENDNOTES

- FOOD & AGRIC, ORG, OF THE UNITED NATIONS [FAO], GLOBAL FOOD LOSSES AND FOOD WASTE—EXTENT, CAUSES, AND PREVENTION 4 (2011), http://www.fao.org/3/ai2697e.pdf [https://perma.cc/DD6H-U99T].
- HARVARD LAW SCHOOL FOOD LAW AND POLICY CLINIC, KEEPING FOOD OUT OF THE LANDFILL: POLICY IDEAS FOR STATES AND LOCALITIES 1 (2016), https://www.chlpi.org/ WP-CONTENT/UPLOADS/2013/12/FOOD-WASTE-TOOLKIT OCT-2016 SMALLER.PDF [hereinafter Keeping Food Out of the Landfill].
- FAO, FOOD WASTAGE FOOTPRINT: IMPACTS ON NATURAL RESOURCES 6 (2011).
- FAO. FOOD WASTAGE FOOTPRINT & CLIMATE CHANGE 1 (2015).
- FAO, THE STATE OF FOOD SECURITY AND NUTRITION IN THE WORLD: SAFEGUARDING AGAINST ECONOMIC SLOWDOWNS AND DOWNTURNS 6 (2018), http://www.fao.org/3/ ca5162en/ca5162en.pdf [https://perma.cc/WS34-9DCZ].
- G.A. Res. 70/1 at 22 (Oct. 21., 2015) ("By 2030, to halve per capita global food waste at the retail and consumer levels and reduce food losses along production and supply chains, including post-harvest losses.").
- 10 The Global Food Donation Policy Atlas project would not be possible without the support of the Walmart Foundation. The Walmart Foundation is not responsible for the content of this document or the views contained herein. The content of this document should not be interpreted as legal advice; those seeking legal advice should speak to an attorney licensed to practice in the applicable jurisdiction and area of law.
- Food Loss and Waste Building On Existing Federal Efforts Could Help to Achieve National Reduction Goal, UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE HIGH LIGHTS OF GAO-19-391; A Roadmap to Reduce U.S. Food Waste by 20 Percent, REFED 16 (2016), https://www.refed.com/downloads/ReFED\_Report\_2016.pdf (https://perma.cc/9SW3-KP2Y) [hereinafter A Roadmap to Reduce U.S. Food Waste].
- 12 Alisha Coleman-Jensen et al, Key Statistics & Graphics: Food Security Status of U.S. Households in 2018 (Sept. 04 2019), U.S.D.A., https://www.ers.usda.gov/ topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/key-statistics-graphics.aspx#foodsecure.
- 13 FLPC would like to express its gratitude to Feeding America for its contributions to this research, as well as many other NGOs, businesses, and government agencies who shared input with the FLPC team.
- U.S. CENSUS BUREAU, INCOME AND POVERTY IN THE UNITED STATES: 2018 (2019), https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2019/demo/p60-266.html 15
- 16 Food Waste, NATURAL RES. DEF. COUNCIL, https://www.nrdc.org/issues/food-waste (last visited Feb. 27, 2020).
- 17 Disposal Bans & Mandatory Recycling in the United States, NATURAL RES. DEF. COUNCIL (2017).
- 18 A Roadmap to Reduce U.S. Food Waste, supra note 11 at 11.
- 19 Linda S. Cantor, et. al., Estimating and Addressing America's Food Losses 20, FOOD REV. 2 (Jan. 1997), http://gleaningusa.com/PDFs/USDA-Jan97a.pdf.
- 20 Norbert L.W. Wilson, et. al, Food Waste: The Role of Date Labels, Package Size, and Product Category (2017). FOOD QUALITY AND PREFERENCE, 35 (2017).
- 21 27 Solutions to Food Waste, ReFED, https://www.refed.com/?sort=water-conservation (last visited Feb. 27, 2020) (https://perma.cc/W55W-R67S).
- 22 See A Roadmap to Reduce U.S. Food Waste, supra note 11, at 50. See also Understanding Global Warming Potentials, U.S. ENVTL. PROT. AGENCY, https://www.epa. gov/ghgemissions/understanding-global-warming-potentials (last visited Mar. 3, 2020).
- 23 Alisha Coleman-Jensen, et al., Household Food Security in the United States in 2018, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC., ECON. RESEARCH SERV. 6 (2019), https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/94849/err-270.pdf?v=963.1 (https://perma.cc/A5W7-
- Toni M. Fine, American Legal Systems, A Resource and Reference Guide 2 (2008).
- See e.g., Wickard v. Filburn, 317 U.S. 111 (1942) (holding government has authority to regulate agriculture if it has a substantial effect on interstate commerce).
- Ensuring Safe Food from Production to Consumption, U.S. Institute of Medicine and U.S. National Research Council Committee to Ensure Safe Food from PRODUCTION TO CONSUMPTION (1998).
- 27 See Renée Johnson, The Federal Food Safety System: A Primer, 1 Cong. RESEARCH SERV., RS22600, (2016).
- 21 U.S.C. §§ 301-392 (2012); 21 C.F.R. § 1.4 (2012); 21 U.S.C. § 343-1 (2012); 15 U.S.C. §§ 1451-1461 (2012); 21 C.F.R. § 10.40 (2013); 7 U.S.C. 499 (2012); 21 U.S.C. § 2201-52 (2012). See also, U.S. Dep't of Agric., Food Safety & Inspection Serv., A Guide to Federal Food Labeling Requirements for Meat and Poultry Products 6 (2007).
- 21 U.S.C. §§ 451-472 (2012); 21 U.S.C. §§ 601-695 (2012); 21 U.S.C. §§ 1031-1056 (2012); 12 U.S.C. § 1141 (2012); 7 C.F.R. § 2.79 (a)(1) (2013); 7 C.F.R. § 2.53 (2013); 9 C.F.R. § 300.2 (2013). See Regulations & Policies: Regulations for Package Dating, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC. FOOD SAFETY & INSPECTION SERV., https://www.fsis. usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/regulatory-compliance/labeling/labeling-policies/package-dating/package-dating (https://perma.cc/T58J-XMN6).
- FDA regulates shell eggs and USDA regulates processed egg products as well as certified shell eggs under a voluntary grading program. 21 U.S.C. §§ 1031-1056 (2012); 21 U.S.C. §§ 301-392 (2012). Under the Egg Products Inspection Act, FDA and USDA share responsibility over egg products; USDA has a primary role. 63 Fed. Reg. 27502, 27508 (May 19, 1998).
- DHHS, FOOD & DRUG ADMIN., 3-1 FDA/USDA JURISDICTIONAL CHART, FDA -2013-S-0610 (2015). https://www.fda.gov/media/75238/download
- See 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(2) (giving the FTC authority to prohibit "unfair of deceptive acts or practices"); 15 U.S.C. § 52-55 (prohibiting the dissemination of misleading claims for food, drugs, devices, services or cosmetics); 15 U.S.C. § 52-53 (authorizing FTC to file suit in the U.S. District Court for an act or practice in violation of any provision of law enforced by the FTC).
- See Regulatory Information by Topic: Waste, U.S. Env'TL. PROT. AGENCY https://www.epa.gov/regulatory-information-topic/regulatory-in (https://perma.cc/E7XU-UPT9).
- Sustainable Management of Food, United States 2030 Food Loss and Waste Reduction Goal, ENV'TL. PROT. AGENCY, https://www.epa.gov/sustainablemanagement-food/united-states-2030-food-loss-and-waste-reduction-goal (https://perma.cc/YYU9-X4AL).
- See e.g., Reducing Food Waste at Home, ENV'TL. PROT. AGENCY https://www.epa.gov/recycle/reducing-wasted-food-home, (last visited 12.11.2019), (https:// perma.cc/Z9TC-U2TL).
- See 21 C.F.R. 1.226 (outlining the facilities exempt from federal registration and inspection by FDA); Inspection for Food Safety: The Basics, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC. https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/food-safety-education/get-answers/food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection/inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-and-inspection-for-food-safety-fact-sheets/production-food-safety-fact-sheet safety-the-basics/inspection-for-food-safety-basics (https://perma.cc/2WAK-P6WS).
- See e.g., 21 U.S.C. § 331 (West 2017); Food Safety Regulations & Guidance for Food Donations: A Fifty-State Survey Of State Practices, HARVARD FOOD LAW & POL'Y CLINIC 2 (2018) [hereinafter Fifty-State Survey].
- "The following acts and the causing thereof are hereby prohibited . . . (k) The alteration, mutilation, destruction, obliteration, or removal of the whole or any part of the labeling of, or the doing of any other act with respect to, a food, drug, device, tobacco product, or cosmetic, if such act is done while such article is held for sale (whether or not the first sale) after shipment in interstate commerce and results in such article being adulterated or misbranded." 21 USC § 331 (emphasis

- added); PETER B. HUTT ET AL., FOOD AND DRUG LAW 528 (2014).
- PETER B. HUTT ET AL., FOOD AND DRUG LAW 527-8 (2014).
- Jessica A. Cohen, Ten Years of Leftovers with Many Hungry Still Left Over: A Decade of Donations Under the Bill Emerson Good Samaritan Food Donation Act 5.1 SEATTLE JOURNAL FOR SOCIAL JUSTICE 455 (2006).
- <sup>41</sup> 42 U.S. Code § 1791.
- <sup>42</sup> 42 U.S. Code § 1791.
- Food Waste FAQ, U.S. DEP'T. OF AGRIC., https://www.usda.gov/foodwaste/faqs (https://perma.cc/GKV2-KGWN) (last visited Feb. 27, 2020).
- FORMAL AGREEMENT AMONG THE UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY AND THE UNITED STATES FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION AND THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE RELATIVE TO COOPERATION AND COORDINATION ON FOOD LOSS AND WASTE, https://www.usda.gov/sites/default/files/documents/usda-fda-epa-formal-agreement.pdf (https://perma.cc/6P44-UBVT).
- Winning on Reducing Food Waste Federal Interagency Strategy, U.S. ENV'TL. PROT. AGENCY, <a href="https://www.epa.gov/sustainable-management-food/winning-reducing-food-waste-federal-interagency-strategy">https://perma.cc/LSL5-EWK7</a>) (last visited Feb. 27, 2020).
- <sup>16</sup> *Id*.
- 47 USDA and EPA Launch U.S. Food Waste Challenge, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC., https://www.usda.gov/media/press-releases/2013/06/04/usda-and-epa-launch-us-food-waste-challenge (https://perma.cc/8LHY-GAYQ).
- 48 IC
- <sup>49</sup> See United States Food Loss and Waste 2030 Champions, U.S ENV'TL. PROT. AGENCY https://www.epa.gov/sustainable-management-food/united-states-food-loss-and-waste-2030-champions (https://perma.cc/DGE3-TBMI) (last visited Feb. 27, 2020).
- Food Loss and Waste, U.S DEP'T. OF AGRIC., https://www.usda.gov/foodlossandwaste (https://perma.cc/Q82T-S43Q).
- 51 Reducing Food Waste at K-12 Schools, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC., https://www.usda.gov/foodlossandwaste/schools (https://perma.cc/4UAV-W3LA).
- Agriculture Improvement Act of 2018 (P.L. 115-334) section 11607.
- 53 Sustainable Management of Food, Food: Too Good to Waste Implementation Guide and Toolkit, U.S. ENV'TL. PROT. AGENCY, https://www.epa.gov/sustainable-management-food/food-too-good-waste-implementation-guide-and-toolkit (https://perma.cc/DT64-SSG4).
- 54 Sustainable Management of Food Excess Food Opportunities Map, U.S. ENV'TL. PROT. AGENCY, https://www.epa.gov/sustainable-management-food/excess-food-opportunities-map (https://perma.cc/9MVB-WCC8).
- 55 Food Recovery Challenge (FRC), U.S. ENV'TL. PROT. AGENCY, https://www.epa.gov/sustainable-management-food/food-recovery-challenge-frc (last visited Feb. 27, 2020).
- Reuven Avi Yona, *The Three Goals of Taxation*, 60.1 TAX L. REV 1 (2006).
- <sup>57</sup> The How and Why of Taxes, INTER. REV. SERV. https://apps.irs.gov/app/understandingTaxes/student/whys\_thm05\_les01.jsp (https://perma.cc/75NM-NQ2U).
- 58 See I.R.C. § 170(e)(3)
- <sup>59</sup> See e.g., 21 U.S.C. § 331 (West 2017).
- 60 Laurie J. Beyranevand & Diana Winters, Retooling American Foodralism, 44 AMERICAN JOURNAL OF LAW & MEDICINE, 489 (2018).
- Institute of Medicine (US) and National Research Council (US) Committee to Ensure Safe Food from Production to Consumption, Ensuring Safe Food from Production to Consumption (1998), <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK209121/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK209121/</a>.
- 62 Id.
- 63 KEEPING FOOD OUT OF THE LANDFILL, *supra* note 3 at 34. For example, The state's Department of Public Health in Massachusetts shares authority with 351 local health departments. Food donors and food recovery organizations must comply with the regulations made by the Massachusetts Department of Public Health and the local health department where they are located. See: R.I. Gen. Laws § 23-18.9-17 (a)(1) (2016); Conn. Gen. Stat. § 22a-226e(a) (2016).
- Food Code (2017), U.S. FOOD & DRUG ADMIN. https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Food/GuidanceRegulation/RetailFoodProtection/FoodCode/UCM595140.pdf (https://perma.cc/P8B9-2LJ2) [hereinafter Food Code].
- Adoption of the FDA Food Code by State and Territorial Agencies Responsible for the Oversight of Restaurants and Retail Food Stores U.S. FOOD & DRUG ADMIN. 2 (2016), https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Food/GuidanceRegulation/RetailFoodProtection/FoodCode/UCM577858.pdf (https://perma.cc/C58P-7CY3).
- See Fifty-State Survey., supra note 37 at 2.
- 67 Harley T. Duncan, Relationships Between Federal and State Income Taxes, FEDER. OF TAX ADMIN. (2005); Morgan Scarboro, State Individual Income Tax Rates and Brackets for 2018, 576 FISC. FACT (2018).
- Janelle Cammenga, State and Local Sales Tax Rates, January 2019, TAX FOUND. (2019).
- 69 Legal Fact Sheet New Hampshire Food Donation: Tax Incentives. HARVARD FOOD LAW & POLY CLINIC (2018).
- Liability Protection for Food Donation, Pub. HEALTH LAW CENTER https://www.publichealthlawcenter.org/sites/default/files/resources/Liability%20Protection%20 Food%20Donation.pdf (https://perma.cc/R7RM-HNSR).
- 21 U.S.C. §§ 301 et seq.; 21 U.S.C. §§ 451-472 (2012); 21 U.S.C. §§ 601-695 (2012); 21 U.S.C. §§ 1031-1056 (2012); 12 U.S.C. §§ 1141 (2012); 7 C.F.R. § 2.79 (a)(1) (2013); 7 C.F.R. § 2.53 (2013); 9 C.F.R. § 300.2 (2013). See Regulations & Policies: Regulations for Package Dating, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC. FOOD SAFETY & INSPECTION SERV., https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/regulatory-compliance/labeling/labeling-policies/package-dating/package-dating (https://perma.cc/T58J-XMN6).
- FSIS DIRECTIVE 7020.1: VERIFYING DONATION OF MISBRANDED AND ECONOMICALLY ADULTERATED MEAT AND POULTRY PRODUCTS TO NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC. FOOD SAFETY & INSPECTION SERV. (Jan. 26,2016), <a href="https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/25e1becc-4201-4cc0-a707-c9ed38a2f01c/7020.1.">https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/25e1becc-4201-4cc0-a707-c9ed38a2f01c/7020.1.</a> pdf?MOD=AJPERES.
- <sup>73</sup> See e.g., USDA Revises Guidance on Date Labeling to Reduce Food Waste, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC. (Dec. 14, 2016), <a href="https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/FSIS-Content/internet/main/newsroom/news-release-statements-and-transcripts/news-release-archives-by-year/archive/2016/nr-121416-01">https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/FSIS-Content/internet/main/newsroom/news-release-statements-and-transcripts/news-release-archives-by-year/archive/2016/nr-121416-01</a> (noting that "FSIS has also begun recognizing food banks as "retail-type" establishments, which allows food banks (under certain circumstances) to break down bulk shipments of federally-inspected meat or poultry products, wrap or rewrap those products, and label the products for distribution to consumers.")
- Food Code supra note 64.
- Adoption of the FDA Food Code by State and Territorial Agencies Responsible for the Oversight of Restaurants and Retail Food Stores 2 U.S. FOOD & DRUG ADMIN., (2016).
- Don't Waste, Donate: Enhancing Food Donations Through Federal Policy, HARVARD FOOD LAW & POLY CLINIC & NATURAL RES. DEF. COUNCIL, 23-26 (2017) [hereinafter Don't Waste, Donate].
- 77 See id.
- 78 See id
- Comprehensive Resource for Food Recovery Programs, FOOD RECOVERY COMMITTEE, CONFERENCE FOR FOOD PROTECTION 2 (2016).
- 80 *Id*. at 2.
- The 2017 FDA Food Code does, however, identify an earlier iteration of the Comprehensive Resource as a supporting document in an annex. See Food Code supra note 64.

- THE CONFERENCE FOR FOOD PROTECTION (CFP) AND ITS ROLE IN PROMOTING RETAIL FOOD SAFETY AFDO UPDATES 17 (June 19, 2018), http://www.afdo.org/resources/Documents/2018Conference/1400-1600\_Retail%20Food%20Committee\_Patrick%20Guzzle.pdf (https://perma.cc/E9LE-XSW2).
- LETTER TO THE FDA ON 2018 CFP RECOMMENDATIONS (May 21, 2018).
- FDA LETTER IN RESPONSE TO THE 2018 BIENNIAL MEETING (Aug. 21, 2018).
- 2020 Biennial Meeting, Conference for Food Protection, <a href="http://www.foodprotect.org/biennial-meetings/2020-
- See Fifty-State Survey., supra note 37 at 6-7.
- See e.g., Sharing Tables at School Fact Sheet, IOWA DEP'T OF EDUCATION (June 2018) https://educateiowa.gov/sites/files/ed/documents/Sharing%20Tables%20 at%20School%20Fact%20Sheet.pdf (https://perma.cc/R55S-RE2S); The Use of Share Tables, CAL. DEP'T OF EDUCATION (Feb. 2018) https://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/nu/sn/mbcnp032018.asp (https://perma.cc/E4CA-8ARL).
- See e.g., Share the Harvest Deer, Mo. DEP'T OF CONSERVATION, https://huntfish.mdc.mo.gov/hunting-trapping/species/deer/deer-share-harvest (https://perma.cc/7AXB-M7FX); Wisconsin deer donation, Wis. DEP'T OF NAT'L REs., https://dnr.wi.gov/topic/hunt/donation.html (https://perma.cc/R76Z-F5DZ).
- 89 25 Tex. Admin. Code § 228.83.
- The Dating Game: How Confusing Food Labels Lead to Food Waste in America, HARVARD FOOD LAW AND POL'Y CLINIC AND NAT'L RES. DEF. COUNCIL 17 (2013), <a href="https://www.chlpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/dating-game-report.pdf">http://www.chlpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/dating-game-report.pdf</a> [hereinafter The Dating Game].
- See, e.g., Consumer Insight: Date Labels and Storage Guidance, WRAP, (2011); Dana Gunders, Wasted: How America Is Losing Up to 40% of Its Food from Farm to Fork to Landfill, NATURAL RES. DEF. COUNCIL, 12, 12-13 (2012); Jonathan Bloom, AMERICAN WASTELAND XII, 164-67 (2011).
- <sup>92</sup> Date Labeling, IFT, http://www.ift.org/science-and-policy/advocacy-toolkits/date-labeling.aspx (https://perma.cc/YU69-CKDE).
- 93 See WRAP, Consumer Insight: Date Labels and Storage Guidance 12 (2011), available at http://www.wrap.org.uk/sites/ files/wrap/Technical\_report\_dates.pdf.
- Emily Broad Leib, Christina Rice, Roni Neff, Marie Spiker, Ali Schklair & Sally Greenberg, Consumer Perceptions of Date Labels: National Survey, HARVARD FOOD LAW AND POLY CLINIC, NAT'L CONSUMER INST. AND JOHNS HOPKINS CT. FOR A LIVABLE FUTURE 2 (May 2016), http://www.chlpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/Consumer-Perceptions-on-Date-Labels\_May-2016.pdf.
- The date labeling of infant formula is regulated under 21 CFR 107.20(c). See Contains Nonbinding Recommendations Labeling of Infant Formula: Guidance for Industry, U.S FOOD & DRUG ADMIN. (Sep. 2016) [hereinafter Guidance for Industry].
- 96 21 U.S.C.A. § 331(b) (West 2017): 21 U.S.C.A. § 343 (West, 2017); 21 U.S.C.A. § 463(a) (West, 2017); 21 U.S.C.A. § 607(c) (West, 2017); 21 U.S.C.A. § 1043 (West 2017).
- <sup>97</sup> See Guidance for Industry, supra note 95.
- Frank Yiannas, Letter to the Food Industry, U.S. FOOD & DRUG ADMIN. (May 23, 2019).
- See Food Product Dating, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC. FOOD SAFETY & INSPECTION SERV., https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/food-safety-education/get-answers/food-safety-fact-sheets/food-labeling/food-product-dating/food-product-datingg (last visited Sept. 15, 2019). The USDA does, however, require a "pack date" for poultry and a "lot number" or "pack date" for egg products certified by the USDA.
- <sup>100</sup> 9 C.F.R. §317.8(b)(32)(i)-(ii) (West 2017).
- Press Release, U.S. Dep't of Agric., USDA Revises Guidance on Date Labeling to Reduce Food Waste (Dec. 14, 2016), <a href="https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/newsroom/news-releases-statements-transcripts/news-release-archives-by-year/archive/2016/nr-121416-01">https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/news-release-archives-by-year/archive/2016/nr-121416-01</a>; Food Product Dating, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC., <a href="https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/19013cb7-8a4d-474c-8bd7-bda76b9defb3/Food-Product-Dating.pdf?MOD=AJPERES">https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/19013cb7-8a4d-474c-8bd7-bda76b9defb3/Food-Product-Dating.pdf?MOD=AJPERES</a>.
- See Don't Waste, Donate, supra note 76 at 19.
- <sup>103</sup> MICH. COMP. LAWS ANN. § 289.8107 (2017).
- <sup>104</sup> MICH. COMP. LAWS ANN. § 288.539.
- <sup>105</sup> MICH. COMP. LAWS ANN. § 289.8107.
- The Dating Game, supra note 90 at 12.
- <sup>107</sup> See, e.g., Massachusetts Food Waste Policy, REFED, https://www.refed.com/tools/food-waste-policy-finder/massachusetts/ (https://perma.cc/P62F-YMRY).
- The Dating Game, supra note 90 at 12.
- Bold New Agenda, New Name: GMA to Relaunch as Consumer Brands Association in 2020, GROCERY MFR. Ass'n (9.26.2019) https://www.gmaonline.org/news-events/newsroom/bold-new-agenda-new-name-gma-to-relaunch-as-consumer-brands-association-in-/ (https://perma.cc/9HG3-AYST).
- Grocery Industry Launches New Initiative to Reduce Consumer Confusion on Product Date Labels, GROCERY MFR. ASS'N (Feb. 15, 2017), http://www.gmaonline.org/news-events/newsroom/grocery-industry-launches-new-initiative-to-reduce-consumer-confusion-on-pr/ (https://perma.cc/GLR4-G4PS).
- Best if Clearly Labeled: How the Consumer Packaged Goods Industry is Reducing Confusion and Food Waste, GROCERY MFR. ASS'N (2019), https://www.gmaonline.org/file-manager/Best%20if%20Clearly%20Labeled%20FINAL%20Small%20File.pdf.
- <sup>112</sup> See Grocery Mfr. Ass'n, Best if Clearly Labeled 2 (2018), https://www.gmaonline.org/file-manager/Best%20if%20Clearly%20Labeled%20FINAL%20Small%20 File.pdf (https://perma.cc/ZPP9-UC6B).
- 113 See, e.g., AB-954, Assemb. Reg. Sess. 2017-2018 (CA 2017); H.3244, House Reg. Sess. 2017-2018 (MA 2017); S. 2420, Sen. Reg. Sess. 2018-2019 (NJ 2018).
- <sup>114</sup> Sen. Reg. Sess. 2018-2019 (NJ 2018).
- <sup>115</sup> AB-954, Assemb. Reg. Sess. 2017-2018 (CA 2017).
- Food Date Labeling Act of 2019 (H.R. 3981).
- <sup>117</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791.
- <sup>118</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791.
- <sup>119</sup> 42 U.S.C. § 1791(d).
- <sup>120</sup> 42 U.S.C. § 1758(I).
- <sup>121</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791(c)(1).
- <sup>122</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791(c)(1).
- <sup>123</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791(c)(1), (e).
- There is an exception for mislabeled food products that are "not readily marketable," which can also be protected so long as the donor explains the mislabeling to the donee, and the donee has sufficient knowledge to and does recondition the product to meet applicable standards. 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791 §1791(b)(1-2).
- <sup>125</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791(e)(1).
- <sup>126</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791 (e)(2)
- <sup>127</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791 (e)(3).
- <sup>128</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791 (b)(3).
- <sup>129</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791(c)(3).
- <sup>130</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791(b)(7).
- <sup>131</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791(b)(8).
- <sup>132</sup> See Neal D. Fortin, Food Regulation: Law, Science, Policy, and Practice 606–07 (2009). See also Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm § 7 (Am. Law Inst. 2005).; Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A (Am. Law Inst. 1964); 63 Am. Jur. 2d Products Liability §§ 506, 515 (2019)

(noting that Delaware, Virginia, Massachusetts, Michigan, and North Carolina have rejected strict liability). A consumer harmed by foodborne illness may also sue under a contractual claim of breach of implied warranty, which is largely analogous to a strict liability claim. See U.C.C. §§ 2-314, 2-315 (AM. LAW INST. & NAT'L CONFERENCE OF COMM'RS ON UNIF. STATE LAWS 2012); NEAL D. FORTIN, FOOD REGULATION: LAW, SCIENCE, POLICY, AND PRACTICE 608 (2009).

- 133 Recommendations to Strengthen the Bill Emerson Good Samaritan Act, HARVARD FOOD LAW & POL'Y CLINIC 1 (Sep. 2017), http://www.chlpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/recommendations-bill-emerson-good-samaritan-act-fs.pdf.
- <sup>134</sup> 42 U.S.C.A. § 1791(c)(1).
- <sup>135</sup> Agriculture Improvement Act, H.R 2, 2018, Sec. 4104(f)(1)(C).
- Agriculture Improvement Act, H.R 2, 2018, Sec. 4104(f)(1)(C).
- <sup>137</sup> Analysis of U.S. Food Waste Among Food Manufacturers, Retailers, and Restaurants, FOOD WASTE REDUCTION ALLIANCE 17, 24 (2016), http://www.foodwastealliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/FWRA-Food-Waste-Survey-2016-Report\_Final.pdf.
- Opportunities to Reduce Food Waste in the 2018 Farm Bill, HARVARD FOOD LAW & POLY CLINIC 10 (2017), http://www.chlpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/ Opportunities-to-Reduce-Food-Waste-in-the-2018-Farm-Bill\_May-2017.pdf [hereinafter Opportunities to Reduce Food Waste].
- 139 Legal Fact Sheet: The Bill Emerson Good Samaritan Food Donation Act, HARVARD FOOD LAW & POL'Y CLINIC https://www.chlpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/ Emerson-Act-Legal-Fact-Sheet.pdf.
- Frequently Asked Questions about the Bill Emerson Good Samaritan Food Donation Act, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC., <a href="https://www.usda.gov/sites/default/files/documents/usda-good-samaritan-faqs.pdf">https://www.usda.gov/sites/default/files/documents/usda-good-samaritan-faqs.pdf</a> (last visited Feb. 23, 2020).
- KEEPING FOOD OUT OF THE LANDFILL, supra note 3 at 6 (2016).
- <sup>142</sup> See Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 36-916 (2015); N.H. Rev. Stat. § 508:15 (2016).
- <sup>143</sup> See Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 36-916 (1991); Mass. Gen. Laws 94 § 328 (1988); N.H. Rev. Stat. § 508:15 (2016); Wis. Stat. Ann. 895.51 (2015).
- Internal Revenue Service, Statistics of Income: Gross Collections by Type of Tax, IRS DATA BOOK 3 (2019). https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-soi/18databk.pdf. See table 1 on page 3, as the combination of business income taxes \$263 billion, and individual income tax withheld \$1.35 trillion, and individual income tax payments \$585 million. Both account for about 59% of all gross taxes in 2018 (\$3.5 trillion).
- See National Conference of State Legislatures, State, Federal and Local Taxes (2008) http://www.ncsl.org/documents/fiscal/StateFederalandLocalTaxes.pdf (finding 67% federal, 20% state, and 13% local shares of total U.S. tax collection).
- D. Larry Crumbley, Behavioral Implications of Taxation, 48 THE ACCOUNTING REVIEW 4, 760 (1973).
- Elizabeth Rosen, Tax Credits v. Tax Deductions, U.S. TAX CTR. (Aug. 28, 2013).
- <sup>148</sup> I.R.C. § 170(b).(c). (e)(3)(c).
- 149 I.R.C. § 170(e)(1); 26 C.F.R. § 1.170A–4(a)(1) (2018); Charitable Contributions: For Use in Preparing 2017 Tax Returns, I.R.S., DEP'T OF THE TREASURY 11, (Jan. 24, 2018), http://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/p526.pdf (noting the amount of the deduction is the fair market value minus the amount of income gained had the product been sold at fair market value).
- <sup>150</sup> I.R.C. § 170(b)(1)(B)(i); I.R.C. § 1363(b).
- 151 I.R.C. § 170(b)(1)(B)(i); Sole Proprietorships, I.R.S., https://www.irs.gov/Businesses/Small-Businesses-&-Self-Employed/Sole-Proprietorships (https://perma.cc/F4HJ-9SK2).
- 152 I.R.C. § 170(b)(1)(B)(i); Single Member Limited Liability Companies, I.R.S., https://www.irs.gov/businesses/small-businesses-self-employed/single-member-limited-liability-companies (https://perma.cc/37MP-X5RD). Whether an LLC will be treated as an individual for tax purposes—and hence be subject to the 30% total charitable contribution cap—depends on the number of members in the LLC. Id.
- <sup>153</sup> I.R.C. § 170(b)(1)(A).
- <sup>154</sup> I.R.C. § 170(b)(2)(A).
- <sup>155</sup> See I.R.C. § 170(e)(3)(B); 26 C.F.R. § 1.170A-4A(b)(4) (2017).
- <sup>156</sup> See I.R.C. § 170(e)(3)(C)(ii).
- <sup>157</sup> 26 C.F.R. 1.170A-4A(b)(2)(ii)(A) (2019).
- <sup>158</sup> I.R.C. § 170(e)(3).
- <sup>159</sup> I.R.C. § 170(e)(3)(A)(ii);. 26 C.F.R. § 1.170A-4A(b)(3).
- <sup>160</sup> 26 C.F.R. 1.170A-4A(b)(4) (2015), http://www.law.cornell.edu/cfr/text/26/1.170A-4A.
- <sup>161</sup> 26 C.F.R. § 1.170A-4A(b)(4) (2019).
- <sup>162</sup> I.R.C. § 170(e)(3)(A)(iv); 26 C.F.R. § 1.170A-4A(b)(5).
- <sup>163</sup> 26 C.F.R. § 1.170A-4A(b)(5).
- <sup>164</sup> See I.R.C. § 170(e)(3)(C)(iv).
- <sup>165</sup> See I.R.C. § 170(e)(3)(C)(v).
- <sup>165</sup> ARIZ. REV. STAT. ANN. §§ 42-5074, 43-1025 (2016); CAL. REV. & TAX. CODE §§ 17053.12, 17053.88 (West 2016); COLO. REV. STAT. ANN. §§ 39-22-301, 39-22-336 (West 2016); IOWA CODE ANN. § 190B.101-.106 (2015); KY. REV. STAT. ANN. § 141.392 (West 2016); MO. ANN. STAT. § 135.647 (West 2016); OR. REV. STAT. ANN. §§ 315.154, 315.156 (West 2016); S.C. CODE ANN. § 12-6-3750 (2016); VA. CODE ANN. § 58.1- 439.12:12 (West 2016); N.Y. REV. STAT. ANN. § 210.52..
- KEEPING FOOD OUT OF THE LANDFILL, supra note 3 at 18.
- <sup>168</sup> *Id.* at 18-19.
- <sup>169</sup> Cal. Rev. & Tax. Code § 17053.12.
- 3.12. 19 S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-3750.
- For example, the Canadian Goods and Services Tax, which is Canada's Value Added Tax raises the taxpayer's overall tax burden due to donated food in some circumstances. See Excise Tax Act, R.S.C. 1985, E-15 Part IX.
- Results are in: Trash is Down, Recycling is UP!, VERMONT DEP'T OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION https://www.londonderryvt.org/recycletransfer/recycletransfer-news-information/ (https://perma.cc/Z9MD-KYVK).
- <sup>173</sup> Cal. Pub. Res. Code § 42649.81, 2018
- <sup>174</sup> CONN. GEN. STAT. § 22a-226e (2016).
- <sup>175</sup> 310 MASS. CODE REGS. 19.017(3) (2016).
- <sup>176</sup> N.Y. Env't. Conservation Law § 27-2201, 2019
- <sup>177</sup> R.I. GEN. LAWS § 23-18.9-17 (2016).
- <sup>178</sup> 10 VT. STAT. ANN. tit. 10, § 6605k (2015).
- 179 Vermont's Universal Recycling Law, VT. DEP'T OF ENV'TL. CONSERVATION, http://dec.vermont.gov/waste-management/solid/universal-recycling (https://perma.cc/58U9-2SJE).
- <sup>180</sup> CAL. PUB. RES. CODE § 42649.81 (West 2016).
- <sup>181</sup> CAL. PUB. RES. CODE § 42649.81 (West 2016).
- <sup>182</sup> CAL. PUB. RES. CODE § 42649.81 (West 2016).

- <sup>183</sup> CAL. PUB. RES. CODE § 42649.81(a)(4)
- 184 S.B. 1383 (2016); Short-Lived Climate Pollutants (SLCP): Organic Waste Methane Emissions Reductions, CALRECYCLE https://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/slcp (https://perma.cc/8AKU-GSR4).
- <sup>185</sup> N.Y.C. ADMIN. CODE § 16-306.1 (2016).
- Austin, Tex., Ordinance to Amend City Code Ch. 15-6 (Apr. 25, 2013).
- <sup>187</sup> Zero Waste Strategic Plan, City of Austin, Texas (2008).
- S.F. ENV'TL. CODE § 1903 (2016).
- <sup>189</sup> SEATTLE MUN. CODE 21.36.082(C) (2016); SEATTLE MUN. CODE 21.36.083(B) (2016).
- What is The Emergency Food Assistance Program? U.S DEP'T OF AGRIC. https://www.fns.usda.gov/tefap/tefap-fact-sheet (https://perma.cc/VQA8-3E8T).
- <sup>191</sup> Id
- 192 See Kara Clifford Billings, The Emergency Food Assistance Program (TEFAP): Background and Funding 1, Congressional Research Service (Jan. 8 2020).
- <sup>193</sup> Agriculture Improvement Act of 2018, Section 4018(b).
- Federal Registrar, *The Emergency Food Assistance Program: Implementation of the Agriculture Improvement Act of 2018* https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2019/10/04/2019-21665/the-emergency-food-assistance-program-implementation-of-the-agriculture-improvement-act-of-2018 (https://perma.cc/T5GU-FUQS); USDA, Notice to Stakeholders: New Rule to Enhance Customer Service and Link Farms to Food Banks in TEFAP, https://www.fns.usda.gov/news-item/notice-stakeholders-new-rule-enhance-customer-service-and-link-farms-food-banks-tefap (https://perma.cc/ZQ5G-VR26).
- Value Added Producer Grants, U.S DEP'T OF AGRIC. https://www.rd.usda.gov/programs-services/value-added-producer-grants (https://perma.cc/5LR5-JL23).
- <sup>196</sup> Id
- 197 Community Food Projects (CFP) Competitive Grants Program, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC., https://nifa.usda.gov/funding-opportunity/community-food-projects-cfp-competitive-grants-program (https://perma.cc/6SY7-WS53).
- <sup>198</sup> Id
- 199 Farmers Market Promotion Program, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC., https://www.ams.usda.gov/services/grants/fmpp (https://perma.cc/U8HL-AKKU).
- Local Food Promotion Program, U.S. DEP'T OF AGRIC., https://www.ams.usda.gov/services/grants/lfpp (https://perma.cc/76JF-FWT9).
- <sup>201</sup> 7 U.S. Code § 1627c.
- <sup>202</sup> Massachusetts Emergency Food Assistance Program (MEFAP), MASS DEP'T OF AGRIC. Resourceshttps://www.mass.gov/service-details/massachusetts-emergency-food-assistance-program-mefap (https://perma.cc/XAV5-EEB2).
- <sup>203</sup> Id
- 204 Pennsylvania Agricultural Surplus System, PENN DEP'T OF AGRIC. https://www.agriculture.pa.gov/Food/food\_assistance/Pages/Pennsylvania-Agricultural-Surplus-Program.aspx (https://perma.cc/6UCG-TE8E).
- Pennsylvania Dep't of Agric., The State Food Purchase Program Act Report to the Pennsylvania General Assembly 7-8 (Jan 2020) <a href="https://www.agriculture.pa.gov/Food/food\_assistance/State%20Food%20Purchase%20Program/Documents/2020%20SFPP%20Annual%20Report\_final.pdf">https://www.agriculture.pa.gov/Food/food\_assistance/State%20Food%20Purchase%20Program/Documents/2020%20SFPP%20Annual%20Report\_final.pdf</a>.
- Food programs, OHIO ASSOC. OF FOODBANKS http://ohiofoodbanks.org/programs/program-detail.php?id=3&page=10 (https://perma.cc/9FVB-TA5M).
- <sup>207</sup> Microgrant Program, NYC FOOD WASTE FAIR https://www.foodwastefair.nyc/microgrants (https://perma.cc/XR26-KL4J).
- 208 Zero Waste Grants, San Francisco Dep't of the Environment, https://sfenvironment.org/zero-waste-grants (https://perma.cc/3M2S-D5LF).
- For information of the exact use of these funds see: TDEC Awards Nearly \$4 Million To Combat Food Waste, DEP'T OF ENV'TL. CONSER. https://www.tn.gov/environment/news/2017/12/12/tdec-awards-nearly-4-million-to-combat-food-waste.html (https://perma.cc/WZ9P-ZSDA) for information of the exact use of these funds.
- 210 FY 2018-19 Food Waste Prevention and Rescue Grant Program, CALRECYCLE, https://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/climate/grantsloans/foodwaste/fy201819/ (https://perma.cc/7WTM-SKUX).
- <sup>211</sup> Agriculture Improvement Act of 2018, Pub. L. No. 115-334, 132 Stat. 4490 (2018).
- <sup>212</sup> Federal Food Donation Act of 2008, Pub. L. No. 110-247, 122 STAT. 2315 (2008) (codified as amended at 42 USC 1771).
- <sup>213</sup> Id
- Don't Waste, Donate, supra note 76 at 22-23.
- The information contained in this guide is current as of February 2020.

© JUNE 2020



